## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v

CASE NUMBER 87,463

BRIAN JAY GLICK,

Respondent.

1



0º

123

### RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

John A. Weiss WEISS & ETKIN Attorney Number 0185229 2937 **Kerry** Forest Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32308 (904) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT



##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a matter of original jurisdiction before the Supreme Court of Florida pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State Florida.

Subsequent to The Florida Bar filing its formal complaint charging Respondent, Brian Jay **Glick**, with five counts of misconduct, this Court appointed the Honorable Miette K. Burnstein, Circuit Judge for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, referee to preside over these proceedings. Final hearing was held before Judge Burnstein on June 21, 1996. The report of referee was signed by Judge Burnstein on August **5**, 1996. In her **report**, the referee found Respondent guilty of all four counts not withdrawn by the Bar and recommended a ten day suspension.

Prior to final hearing, Respondent admitted the allegations and rule violations contained in Counts I and II of the Complaint. The Bar dropped Count IV. After listening to the evidence on Counts III and V, the facts of which were virtually undisputed, the referee concluded that Respondent violated those counts also.

Respondent timely petitioned this Court for review of the referee's findings and conclusions as to counts III and V and the referee's recommendation that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for ten days.

On February 27, 1989, Ruth Schiller and her husband, David Schiller, retained Respondent to represent them in a claim for damages resulting from personal injuries they sustained in a motor vehicle crash occurring on or about February 11, **1989.** On April

-1-

10, 1990, Respondent filed a lawsuit against the defendant and the owner of the motor vehicle striking the Schillers. BEX 1. Discovery then commenced. TR 70, 71. On February 25, 1993, the Schillers' action was dismissed for want of prosecution. At the time of the dismissal, the statute of limitations had run on their claim and, accordingly, the suit could not be refiled.

Exactly one month before the dismissal, on January 25, 1993, Respondent's paralegal and chief assistant in the office, Monica Bruce, lost her young son in a tragic drowning accident. The loss of Ms. Bruce's son completely disrupted Respondent's practice. TR 72, 73, BEX 1.

During the summer of 1995, Mrs. Schiller attempted to communicate with Respondent regarding the status of her case. Since the onset of the litigation, her husband had passed away. An appointment to meet with her was apparently set and canceled and, subsequently, Respondent left for vacation. TR 78. Mrs. Schiller, being unable to communicate with Respondent, filed a grievance against him on August 21, 1995. BEX 3.

On August 30, 1995, Respondent met with Mrs. Schiller in his office pursuant to an appointment made the day before. TR 79. During that meeting, Respondent advised Mrs. Schiller that the suit had been dismissed for want of prosecution, that she had the right to sue him and to seek the advice of independent counsel for remedies against him, and, most importantly, he admitted fault. TR 18, 27, 28, 79 and 84. Respondent settled Mrs. Schiller's claim for monetary damages at that meeting in excess of the \$3,000.00 to

-2-

\$4,000.00 total settlement figure discussed by adverse counsel. TR 96. In addition, he paid for the costs of the prosecution of Mrs. Schiller's claim and the costs incurred by the defendant in defending her case. TR 84.

During the settlement discussion with Mrs. Schiller, Respondent included language in the ralease making the terms of the settlement confidential. TR 79. The monetary figure of that settlement has not been disclosed to the Bar to this date. TR 49, 50.

Immediately after the settlement discussion, Mrs. Schiller sent a letter dated August 30, 1995 to The Florida Bar REX 1, withdrawing her complaint. In that letter, Mrs. Schiller stated that:

> I met with Mr. Glick today and we discussed my case as well as the complaint I filed. Mr. Glick was honest and forthcoming and we reached a resolution which I am satisfied with.

> I do not know what steps are to be taken from here by the Bar but I would like to withdraw my complaint and suggest that no further action be taken against Mr. Glick.

> I have not been forced in any way to send you this letter and I am doing it voluntarily.

The Bar refused to terminate the grievance proceedings. Subsequently, on November 6, 1995, Respondent filed a response to Mrs. Schiller's August 21, 1995 grievance. BEX 1. In that letter, Respondent acknowledged the case being dismissed for lack of prosecution. He further stated that:

It is my recollection that the Defendants in this case had offered Mr. and Mrs. Schiller in

-3-

the range of **\$1,500.00** to **\$2,000.00** each to resolve this matter prior to Dismissal.

It is that statement that formed the predicate for the Bar's charges in Count III of the complaint (failure to inform client of an offer of settlement).

Respondent further stated in his November 6, 1995 letter that:

In an effort to make Mrs. Schiller whole and to avoid **any** further proceedings and/or complications in this matter, Mrs. Schiller voluntarily accepted a substantial financial settlement from me and executed a Release in favor of myself and my firms. This was done knowingly, freely and voluntarily but Mrs. Schiller has asked that the settlement remain confidential. BEX 1, **p.** 2.

The last half of the last sentence in the quoted paragraph above formed the basis for the Bar's allegations in Count V of their complaint. Respondent sent a copy of his November 6, 1995 letter to Gregg W. McClosky, the lawyer representing him in the grievance proceedings. On February 12, 1996, Respondent further communicated with Bar Counsel, David M. Barnovitz, and the members of the grievance committee by letter dated February 12, 1996. BEX 2. In that letter, Respondent clarified statements made in the November **6**, 1995 letter. Specifically, as to Count V, Respondent stated that:

> It is my recollection of the facts that when the inquiry was first filed and before I responded to the allegations, I was informed by my counsel that an investigator from the Bar had interviewed Mrs. Schiller and when Mrs. Schiller concerning questioning the circumstances of our settlement she told the settlement investigator that our was confidential.

> In my subsequent response to the Bar, I could

-4-

not disclose the settlement sum to the Bar since I was advised by my counsel that Mrs. Schiller had refused to disclose the settlement sum. Accordingly, **based** upon these factual circumstances, my statement **and** response to the complaint was accurate. If my client wants this to remain confidential then I must comply with her wishes. I, of course, first asked her to keep this settlement confidential for **all** the obvious reasons.

Finally, although at the time of this dictation, my entire file has been delivered to my attorney for review by Mr. Barnovitz, it is my recollection that the reference of a **\$1,500.00** to **\$2,000.00** settlement of Mr. and Mrs. Schiller's claims during the time that their claim was pending, were (sic) not a specific written offer of settlement by the insurance company to my client, but merely **an** estimate as to settlement value and my conversations with the attorney who was for the insurance company.

At final hearing, the Bar elicited testimony from Elmer Emrich (throughout the transcript of final hearing, Mr. Emrich's name is misspelled Amrich. Respondent will refer to Mr. Emrich by his proper name throughout this brief). Mr. Emrich testified that he was first contacted by Bar Counsel Barnovitz on this matter on November 13, 1995 and that he interviewed Mrs. Schiller on the 20th of that month. TR 31, 33.

Bar Counsel Barnovitz testified that he had clear recollection of not referring the case for investigation to Mr. **Emrich** until after he had received Respondent's November 6, 1995 letter (BEX 1) on November 9, 1996. TR 38, 39. Mr. Barnovitz acknowledged, however, that there are seven lawyers and approximately 22 support personnel in the Bar's Ft. Lauderdale office. TR 49.

Mr. Barnovitz acknowledged that, prior to final hearing, there

-5-

had been confusion in his mind over the issue of whether Bar personnel had talked to Mrs. Schiller before Respondent's November **6**, 1995 letter. He acknowledged that as recently as the Monday before final hearing (the hearing occurred on Friday, June 21, 1996) he had told Mr. **McCosky** that Bar personnel had talked to Mrs. Schiller before November 6th and that she refused to disclose the settlement because of confidentiality. TR 47.

Mr. Barnovitz also testified that as recently as June 17, 1996 he had prepared a stipulation stating that Bar Counsel had informed Mr. McClosky prior to November 6, 1995 that Mrs. Schiller had been interviewed and that she had refused to disclose the confidentiality provision of her settlement with Respondent. TR 50, 51.

Respondent testified that the idea for a confidentiality provision was his own. TR 79, BEX 2. He testified that, however, prior to writing the November 6, 1995 letter to the Bar he had been advised by his counsel that Mrs. Schiller had been interviewed by personnel from the Bar prior to November 6, 1995 and that she refused to divulge the terms of her settlement. It was based on those representations from his counsel that he based his statement in his November 6, 1995 letter that, at Mrs. Schiller's request, he could not disclose the terms of the settlement. TR 93, 95.

Respondent also testified that no formal offer of settlement was ever made on Mrs. Schiller's case. TR 76, 77, 87. The only discussions regarding a dollar figure were "courthouse talk" and were not firm offers. TR 77, 89, 90, BEX 2. Accordingly, he never

-6-

relayed those offers to Mrs. Schiller.

At final hearing Respondent also testified that he had never had any statute of limitations problems before Mrs. Schillers. He testified, however, that he had a new computer tickle system set up that would preclude any such oversight happening again. TR 71. Respondent has practiced law since October 1981 without any prior disciplinary history. TR 67, 80.

Respondent is board certified by The Florida Bar in civil trial work, has been on the Board of Directors of the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers for seven or eight years and is currently a national delegate on the Board of the Association of Trial Lawyers of America. He has been involved with the Palm Beach County Bar Association in numerous matters and chaired various committees for that organization. He does pro bono work and was recently appointed vice-chair of the Tort and Product Liability Committee of the American Bar Association. TR 68, 69.

Respondent called as a character witness Richard Roselli, attorney at law. Mr. Roselli is the president elect of the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers. He has practiced law since 1981 and has known Respondent for over eight years. TR 55, 56. Mr. Roselli is on the Board of the Broward County Trial Lawyers and is a founding member of the Southern Trial Lawyers.

Mr. Roselli testified that Respondent has an excellent reputation as a trial lawyer and has "very high ethical ideals" regarding the manner in which he obtains cases. TR 57. Mr. Roselli believes that Respondent "is an ethical lawyer.,.." and he

7-

has had Respondent appointed to the Medical Malpractice Task Force for the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers. TR 59. He knows of no other instances where Respondent has been involved in any conduct involving neglect, malpractice or malfeasance. To the best of Mr. **Roselli's** knowledge, the Schiller case was a "isolated incident" by Respondent. TR 61.

Mr. **Roselli** also pointed out that he has discussed the Schiller case with Respondent and that he knows that the whole case has "upset him greatly,...." Part of Respondent's unhappiness stems around the fact that his misconduct occurred "with a very nice client." TR 62.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent asks this Court to dismiss the guilty findings made by the referee in Counts III (failure to convey an offer of settlement) and Count V (misrepresentation) of the complaint. He further asks this Court to reject the referee's recommendation that he be suspended for ten days and that this Court substitute an admonishment for minor misconduct instead. In the alternative, Respondent argues that, even should the guilty findings in Count III and V stand, he should receive no more than a public reprimand.

In Point I, Respondent argues that the referee's finding of misconduct as to Count V should be dismissed because the Bar failed to prove intent to mislead by clear and convincing evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v Cramer</u>, 643 **So.2d** 1069 (**Fla.** 1994). The Bar's entire case is focused on the last half of one sentence, constituting nine words, in his initial response to the Bar's grievance. The clear

-8-

focus of the response was an explanation, and an admission, of his allowing Mrs. Schiller's case to be dismissed and his failure to communicate with her. Prior to writing the Bar, Respondent and Mrs. Schiller had settled their differences with a substantial financial payment by Respondent settling any claim she had against him or his firm. Mrs. Schiller then voluntarily dismissed her grievance; an action the Bar refused to accept.

Respondent testified that he advised the Bar in his November 6, 1995 letter that Mrs. Schiller did not want him to discuss the terms of their confidential settlement (which was entered into on August 30, 1995) at her request. He made that statement because he was told such was the case by the lawyer representing him in Bar disciplinary proceedings. The Bar agreed with that statement up until four days before trial. At that time, the Bar took the position that no personnel from the Bar discussed with Mrs. Schiller her settlement until November 20, 1995, two weeks after Respondent wrote his letter.

In light of the fact there was confusion surrounding the date Mrs. Schiller was interviewed by the Bar, and that Respondent's mental state was not contradicted by any direct evidence, the Bar failed to meet its burden of proving intentional misconduct by clear and convincing evidence as to this Count.

In Point II Respondent argues that the referee improperly concluded that he received an offer of settlement as to the Schillers' case and that he did not disclose that to his clients. In fact, the evidence is unrebutted that no offer was made by

-9-

defendants' counsel. The only discussions regarding settlement were "courthouse talk" and were nothing more than defense counsel's off the cuff opinion of the value of the claims. Such discussions were not **"offers"** of sufficient import to be mandatorily communicated to the client.

Respondent argues in Point III that the mitigation involved in this case, coupled with the fact that his conduct in the **Schillers**' case was an isolated incident, makes an admonishment for minor misconduct the appropriate sanction to be imposed in his case. While admonishments for minor misconduct, and their forerunner, private reprimands, are generally not published, there are numerous cases in which lawyers have received public reprimands for neglect and failure to communicate only after previously receiving private reprimands or admonishments. These cases show that first offenses receive admonishments. Second offenses, and sometimes third, get public reprimands. Even should Counts III and V be upheld, the case law shows that the appropriate sanction for an isolated incident such as the case at Bar is a public reprimand.

-10-

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE FLORIDA BAR DID NOT PROVE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT KNOWINGLY ENGAGED IN CONDUCT CONSTITUTING DISHONESTY, FRAUD, DECEIT OR MISREPRESENTATION (COUNT V) AND, THEREFORE, HE SHOULD BE ACQUITTED ON THAT COUNT.

The Florida Bar has the burden in disciplinary proceedings of proving misconduct by clear and convincing evidence. <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v Ravman</u>, 238 **So.2d** 594 (Fla. 1970). Furthermore, in misrepresentation cases, The Florida Bar must prove that the misrepresentation was material, <u>The Florida Bar v Bariton</u>, 583 **So.2d** 334 (Fla. 1991) and that it was intentional, <u>The Florida Bar v Catalano</u>, 644 **So.2d** 86, (Fla. 1994) and <u>The Florida Bar v</u> <u>Cramer</u>, 643 **So.2d** 1069 (Fla. 1994). The Florida Bar has proven neither element by a preponderance of the evidence, let alone clear and convincing evidence. Accordingly, this Count should be dismissed.

In Count V, The Florida Bar alleged that Respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation because he stated in his November 6, 1995 letter to the Bar (BEX 1) that "Mrs. Schiller has asked that the settlement remain confidential". Respondent has always freely acknowledged that it was he, not Mrs. Schiller who originally thought to make the settlement confidential. TR 79. In his February 12, 1996 letter to the Bar, BEX 2, Respondent explained the statement that he made in his November 6th letter. In that letter, Respondent pointed out that he made the statement regarding Mrs. Schiller's requesting

-11-

### confidentiality as follows:

In my subsequent response to the Bar [BEX 1], I could not disclose the settlement sum to the Bar since <u>I was advised by my counsel</u> that Mrs. Schiller had refused to disclose the settlement sum. Accordingly, based upon these factual circumstances, my statement in response to the complaint was accurate. If my client wants this to remain confidential then I must comply with her wishes. **I**, of course, first asked to keep this settlement confidential for all the obvious reasons. (e.s.)

Both of the aforementioned letters sent to the Bar by Respondent were copied to his lawyer, Gregg W. McClosky, who represented him at trial. The Bar presented no evidence contradicting Respondent's assertions in his February 12, 1996 letter and which were repeated by him at final hearing. TR 93, 95.

If Mr. **Glick's** testimony regarding Mr. **McClosky's** statements to him were not true, Mr. McClosky had the obligation to advise the Court of their falsity. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.3.

The Bar's position is, basically, that at the time Respondent wrote his November 6, 1995 letter he had no information indicating that Mrs. Schiller had asked that the terms of the agreement remain confidential. Their position is contradicted by the agreement signed by Mrs. Schiller and ratified by her at final hearing. TR advised the 23. Mrs. Schiller that she Bar testified representative of that fact and that it has always been her position. TR 23.

The Bar put on evidence which seemed to indicate that Mrs. Schiller had talked to nobody from The Florida Bar until after Respondent wrote his letter on November 6, 1996. See, for example,

-12-

the testimony of Bar Investigator Elmer Emrich TR 33 and Bar Counsel David Barnovitz TR 39. However, even the Bar had to acknowledge there was a great deal of confusion about when Bar representatives spoke to Mrs. Schiller. TR 47, 51. Bar Counsel Barnovitz testified that as recently as the Monday before the final hearing that he had acknowledged to Mr. McClosky that they had conversations prior to November 6, 1995 regarding Mrs. Schiller's refusal to disclose her settlement. TR 47. In fact, Mr. Barnovitz prepared a stipulation and forwarded it to Mr. McClosky on June 17, 1995, four days before trial, stating that Bar Counsel had informed Mr. McClosky prior to November 6, 1995 that the Bar had interviewed Mrs. Schiller prior to November 6, 1995 and she refused to disclose the confidentiality provision. TR 50, 51.

Respondent's firm recollection was that he was told by Mr. McClosky prior to November 6, 1995 that Mrs. Schiller was refusing to divulge the terms of her settlement. TR 93, 95, BEX 2. The Bar acknowledged confusion on the **issue**. In light of Respondent's firm recollection, the fact that he copied his letters to his lawyer (who advised him of conversations with the Bar prior to November **6th**), and the Bar's confusion over the matter (no less than 29 individuals work at the Bar's Ft. Lauderdale office TR **49**), the Bar **cannot prove by clear and convincing** evidence that Respondent **wilfully** made misrepresentations to the Bar. Accordingly, the Referee's finding on Count V must be reversed.

The entire issue on Count V is that the grievance committee regarded Respondent's statement that Mrs. Schiller asked that the

-13-

settlement remain confidential as "constituting an attempt by Mr. Glick to mislead The Florida Bar." TR 45. They focused on nine words in a three page letter. Respondent has specifically rebutted those allegations. Even the Bar is confused over the sequence of events regarding Mrs. Schiller's interviews and her advising the Bar's investigator that she would not reveal the terms of her settlement with Respondent.

Simply stated, the Bar has failed to prove any intent to mislead the Bar. Without such proof this count must fail. <u>The</u> Florida Bar v **Cramer**, 643 **So.2d** 1069, 1070 (Fla. 1994).

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