12/27

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
sid J. WHITE
DEC 16 10.0

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

| Supreme Court Case .
| Complainant-Appellee, | No. 07,463 |
| V. | The Florida Bar File
| BRIAN JAY GLICK | No. 96-50,243(15F) |
| Respondent-Appellant. |

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 N. Andrews Avenue
Suite 835
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309
(954) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY, #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The respondent asks this Court to overturn two of the referee's findings of guilt and then reduce the referee's recommended ten day suspension to an admonishment. The respondent's brief attempts to sow confusion where no confusion exists and further attempts to downplay the significance of the respondent's unethical activity. In this case, the Court is asked to evaluate a lawyer who failed to convey a settlement offer to a client, but more importantly neglected a client's case to the extent that the case was dismissed for a lack of prosecution at a time when the statute of limitations had already expired. The client's case was therefore irreparably damaged. The client was

^{&#}x27;The referee found the respondent not guilty of Count IV of the bar's complaint after the bar withdrew same by stipulation.

not informed of this event. Instead, the client's request for information on the case was ignored for years and it was not until the client, finally fed up with being ignored, filed a grievance with the bar. In an effort, not only to finally do right by his client, but also to sweep the unethical activity back under the rug, the respondent entered into a financial settlement with his client and insisted upon a confidentiality agreement. When pressed to file an answer to the grievance, the lawyer lied by telling the client had asked that the the settlement remain bar that confidential. There is more than ample evidence in the record to support the referee's findings of fact and guilt.

The respondent would also have this Court reduce the referee's recommendation of a ten day suspension from the practice of law. He would prefer an admonishment, but argues that a public reprimand is sufficient punishment for all four counts of misconduct. However, it is the lie to the bar that drives this case into the suspension category. The overwhelming precedent from cases where a lawyer has engaged in acts of misrepresentation or out right perjury during the disciplinary process are suspension cases. The majority of the cases are significant suspensions. Taken in this light the referee's recommendation of a ten day suspension is a

well reasoned balance between the unethical conduct and the aggravating and mitigating factors present in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. A TEN DAY SUSPENSION IS AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO PURPOSEFULLY FAILED TO COMMUNICATE WITH A CLIENT AFTER THE CLIENT'S CASE WAS DISMISSED AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD RUN, WHO FAILED TO CONVEY A SETTLEMENT OFFER TO THE CLIENT WHILE THE CASE WAS STILL VIABLE AND WHO MADE A MISREPRESENTATION OF FACT IN RESPONSE TO A BAR INVESTIGATIVE INQUIRY.

While the bar requests that the referee's recommendation of a ten day suspension be upheld, respondent seeks this Court to the referee's recommended sanction along with overturn referee's factual findings and determination of quilt as to two counts of misconduct. A referee's report caries a strong presumption of correctness and as such these factual findings "should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in The Florida Rar v. Wasserman, 654 So. 2d 905, 906 the record". (Fla. 1995); <u>The Florida Bar v. Wheeler</u>, 653 So. 2d 391 (Fla. "Where the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgement for that of the referee. " The Florida Bar <u>v. Garland</u>, 651 So. 2d 1182, 1183 (Fla. 1995). The respondent has failed to demonstrate how the challenged factual findings of the

referee are "clearly erroneous or without support in the record" and therefore his appeal must fail.

A. The lie to the bar.

In order to fully understand the motivation for respondent's lie to the bar, it is important to review the respondent's representation of the Schillers. In February 1989 respondent commenced his representation of the Schillers and initiated a suit for personal injuries arising form an automobile accident. For a time, things proceeded normally and the respondent attended to the prosecution of this case. However, all record activity ceased in 1992 and this lack of activity caused the February 25, 1993 dismissal of the Schillers suit for a lack of prosecution. This dismissal occurred after the statute of limitations had run and therefore the Schillers' claim was lost. RR2. The respondent, when given an opportunity to reveal the dismissal while discussing with Mrs. Schiller, after the Schillers were served with a post judgement subpoena in aid of execution, that he would satisfy the cost award for the defendants, did not reveal that the underlying case had been dismissed. TT84-85. From that date forward, Mrs. Schiller would periodically call to ascertain the status of her case and respondent would ignore her and would not even allow her to set an office appointment. TT24-25. It was Mrs.

Schiller's testimony at trial that this failure to communicate with her for years eventually caused her to file a bar grievance. TT23-25. It is at this point in time that the respondent finally decides to come clean, invites Mrs. Schiller into his office, fully explains what occurred and reaches a financial accommodation with Mrs. Schiller. TT25-26. It is with the foregoing background of the years of keeping Mrs. Schiller at bay so she would not find out her case had been dismissed as a direct result of the respondent's neglect, that we approach the issue of the confidentiality clause.

Respondent admits that the confidentiality clause was his idea and that Mrs. Schiller agreed to same. TT91. Mrs. Schiller agrees with respondent's trial testimony. TT16. Yet when the respondent finally responds to the bar's inquiry, he states that "Mrs. Schiller has asked that the settlement remain confidential". RR3.

After the respondent had received the bar's letter of inquiry, after he finally met with his client to reveal his malpractice, after he settled the malpractice claim with his client and after he requested that the settlement remain confidential, Mrs. Schiller wrote a letter to the bar asking TT40. The respondent was that her complaint be withdrawn. dismayed that the bar continued to seek a response to Mrs. Schiller's initial complaint, so on September 6, 1995, the respondent sent a letter to bar counsel inquiring under what authority did the bar continue looking for an answer to a grievance when the complaining witness asked to withdraw the TT42. Bar counsel provided the respondent with complaint. shortly thereafter appropriate authority and respondent submitted his letter of November 6, 1995. TT42-43.

This is just not true for the respondent is the one who "asked (Mrs. Schiller) that the settlement remain confidential". RR3. More than likely the respondent hoped that if the settlement remained confidential and Mrs. Schiller was satisfied with her legal malpractice settlement, the bar would not discover the irreparable damage caused to the Schillers' case. While there appears to be no quid pro quo concerning the settlement and the withdrawal of the grievance, a broad interpretation of the confidentiality clause would run afoul of The Florida Bar v. Fitzgerald, 541 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1989), wherein the Court found that agreements that prevented an individual from bringing a matter to The Florida Bar's attention were void for public policy reasons and were not enforceable.

The respondent raises several arguments in his brief to explain away his lie or to convince the Court that he should be found not guilty of lying to the bar. Firstly, he raises two burden of proof arguments which are readily dispatched. Respondent contends that the bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the respondent intentionally lied. The respondent correctly points out that the bar must prove intent in a misrepresentation case. The Florida Bar v. Cramer, 643 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1994); The Florida Bar v. Neu, 597 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1992).

However, a mere assertion that he did not intend to lie is insufficient to rebut the bar's presentation on this issue. example in The Florida Bar v. Simring, 612 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 1993), the lawyer claimed that he did not intend to steal his client's ' money, but the Court, after reviewing all of the facts and circumstances, found that the totality of the situation clearly indicated that there was an intentional theft, notwithstanding the respondent's protestations to the contrary. In this case all you need to do is look at the pattern of concealment. Respondent neglect the case and then actively avoided Mrs. Schiller until she went to the bar. After becoming aware of the grievance and left with no alternative but to reveal his neglect, he finally met with his client, effectuated a financial settlement, insisted upon a confidentiality clause, and even had his office type up Mrs. Schiller's withdrawal letter. TT91-92. However the bar insisted upon a response to Mrs. Schiller's complaint and rather than file an answer, the respondent demanded that the bar provide authority for its continued inquiry. When he had no other alternative but to respond to the grievance, he provides a carefully constructed letter in which he explains that he has settled his differences and that his client asked him not to reveal the contents of that

settlement, even though he knew that the confidentiality clause was his idea,

The respondent also claims that the bar failed to carry its burden of proof on materiality. The respondent points to The Florida Bar v. Rariton, 583 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 1991) to support his position. In Bariton, the lawyer had filed a grievance against another member of the bar and as attachment thereto he included an exhibit which was a letter he claimed to have sent to the other lawyer. During the grievance process it was discovered that the exhibit was not a true copy of the original letter. Rather it was a reconstructed copy that had differences from the original letter (i.e. on different stationery). In Bariton, both parties agreed that the changes were not material. The Court went further and found that "the language omitted from the original letter was totally irrelevant to any issue." Bariton at 335. In the case at hand, the confidentiality clause and who had asked for its creation was certainly a relevant issue. It became a material issue because the clause may have helped conceal respondent's neglect and it almost did, except that a bar counsel was being thorough in his review of the matter.

The respondent's first factual challenge to the referee's findings on the confidentiality clause is that Mrs. Schiller has

consistently said that she agreed that the settlement should remain confidential. See Initial Brief at p.12. While it is true that Mrs. Schiller has consistently lived by her agreement by not revealing the contents of the settlement agreement and by testifying that she has no intention of abrogating that agreement, agreeing that something should remain confidential is not the same thing as asking that it remain confidential. Respondent's argument therefore misses the mark. The question presented is who asked that the agreement remain confidential and not who was willing to live up to the agreement.

Respondent's real factual challenge is his assertion that he was apprised, by his lawyer prior to sending his November 6, 1995 letter, that the bar had interviewed Mrs. Schiller and that she refused to reveal the settlement because of the confidentiality clause and thus his statement that his client asked that the settlement remain confidential was not misleading because he was only complying with his client's wishes. This is extremely tortured logic for it once again rephrases the basic question (who asked that the settlement remain confidential) by attempting to have the reader ask a different question (who is living up to the agreement) to get the correct answer. In any event the following time line completely refutes this argument:

| August 21, 1995 | Schiller complaint received by the bar (TFB ex. 3) |
|-------------------|---|
| August 30, 1995 | Schiller withdrawal letter sent (Resp. ex. 1) |
| August 31, 1995 | Barnovitz ³ letter to respondent asking for a response (Resp. ex. 2) |
| September 6, 1995 | Respondent's letter asking for bar's authority to continue with the case (Resp. ex. 3) |
| September 11,1995 | Barnovitz's reply to September 6, 1995 letter (Resp. ex. 4) |
| November 6, 1995 | Respondent's answer to the grievance (TFB 1) |
| November 9, 1995 | Respondent's November 6, 1996 letter received by the bar (TT38) |
| November 11, 1995 | Bar investigator Emrich assigned to the file (TT31) |
| November 16, 1995 | Emrich reaches Schiller on the phone and schedules an appointment for November 20, 1995 (TT31-33) |
| November 20, 1995 | <pre>Emrich personally interviews Mrs. Schiller (TT33)</pre> |
| November 21, 1995 | <pre>Emrich renders written report of Schiller interview (TT39)</pre> |

It is respondent's position that his November 6 statement, vis-a-vis the confidentiality clause, was predicated upon his conversation with his lawyer who told him that Mrs. Schiller was interviewed by a bar investigator and she refused to reveal the details of the settlement. However, it is evident that there could have been no conversation on this topic between the respondent and

³ David Barnovitz was the initial bar counsel who investigated this file.

his lawyer, Mr. McClosky until well after November 6, 1995. Mr. Barnovitz testified that:

It was impossible that (he) conveyed to Mr. McClosky prior to November 6th the results of an investigation done by Mr. Amrich (sic). It was absolutely impossible because the investigation was not done until November 20... (TT p.51, 1.10-14)

The respondent attempts to create smoke where there is no fire by postulating that it must have been another bar employee - a secretary or another investigator or any employee of the Ft. Lauderdale office of the bar. But there was no other investigator (TT36), the secretary was only confirming an address (TT50) and there is no testimony or documentary evidence to indicate any other employee of the bar (other than Barnovitz, Emrich and a secretary) had any contact with Mrs. Schiller, the respondent, or his counsel prior to November 6, 1996. Unfortunately there is no testimony on the exact date of the conversation between Barnovitz and the respondent's lawyer, but Barnovitz testified that "To the best of

In the fact that Barnovitz, prior to reviewing Emrich's written report and in particular the dates referenced therein, was willing to stipulate that the conversation between lawyer and client occurred prior to the respondent's November 6, 1995 letter does not create any confusion in the bar's position. Once Barnovitz had an opportunity to analyze the dates in Emrich's report, the consent for a stipulation was withdrawn and certainly no stipulation was made during the trial on this point.

(his) present recollection it (the conversation) took place very, very shortly after I received Mr. Amrich's (sic) November 21 written report." TT p. 39, 1.22-24.

The referee had an opportunity to examine all of the witnesses, considered their credibility and she determined that based upon the totality of the circumstances that the respondent's statement was a misrepresentation. Any post hoc attempt at rationalization should be ignored. The respondent lied about the confidentiality clause and the reason he lied was his hope that the bar's investigation would go no further. The referee's findings on this misrepresentation are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court should not reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgement for that of the referee. Garland.

B. The settlement offer.

At issue in Count III of the bar's complaint is whether the respondent failed to convey, to his client, a settlement offer made by the defendant in the underlying litigation. The respondent's position is that the bar failed to meet its burden of proof on this issue.

Both sides agree that the respondent did not convey any offers of settlement (or settlement ranges) to the **Schillers**. The parties disagreement lies in whether or not the defense counsel provided a

settlement offer that needed to be conveyed to the client. The bar's case rests on respondent's own statements in his letter of November 6, 1995 to the bar. In pertinent part the letter reads:

It is my recollection that the Defendants in this *case* had *offered* Mr. and Mrs. Schiller in the range of \$1,500,00 to \$2,000.00 each to resolve this matter prior to Dismissal. (Emphasis supplied).

It is respondent's own admission that establishes the case against him.

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